
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2016-0160
	Hydro One Networks Inc. Transmission


	VOLUME:

DATE:
BEFORE:
	13
December 16, 2016
Ken Quesnelle
Emad Elsayed
Peter C.P. Thompson, Q.C.
	Presiding Member

Member

Member


EB-2016-0160
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. TRANSMISSION
Application for electricity transmission revenue requirement and related changes to the Uniform Transmission Rates beginning January 1, 2017 and January 1, 2018.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Friday, December 16, 2016,

commencing at 9:23 a.m.

----------------------------------------
VOLUME 13
----------------------------------------
BEFORE:


KEN QUESNELLE



Presiding Member


EMAD ELSAYED



Member


PETER C.P. THOMPSON, Q.C.
Member

MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel

HAROLD THIESSEN
Board Staff
CHRIS OAKLEY

CHRIS COBB

MARK ROSICKY
GORDON NETTLETON
Hydro One Networks Inc. (HONI)

KIM MACNAB

ELISABETH DeMARCO
Anwaatin

CARY FERGUSON

SHELLY GRICE
Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario (AMPCO)

TOM BRETT
Building Owners and Managers Association (BOMA)

EMMA BLANCHARD
Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters (CME)

JULIE GIRVAN
Consumers' Council of Canada (CCC)

ROGER HIGGIN
Energy Probe Research Foundation
BRADY YAUCH

KENT ELSON
Environmental Defence (ED)
RICHARD STEPHENSON
Power Workers' Union (PWU)

BAYU KIDANE

MARK RUBENSTEIN
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
JAY SHEPHERD

BOHDAN DUMKA
Society of Energy Professionals (SEP)

MICHAEL JANIGAN
Vulnerable Energy Consumers' Coalition (VECC)
1--- On commencing at 9:23 a.m.


1Preliminary Matters:


6ANWAATIN - PANEL 1



D. Richardson, Affirmed

6Examination-In-Chief by Ms. DeMarco


14Cross-Examination by Mr. Nettleton


40Cross-Examination by Mr. Yauch


48Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea


51Procedural Matters:


54--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 11:02 a.m.




1EXHIBIT NO. K13.1:  COMPENDIUM MATERIALS SUBMITTED BY MR. NETTLETON.


3EXHIBIT NO. K13.2:  ANWAATIN INTERVENOR EVIDENCE FROM DR. RICHARDSON.


3EXHIBIT NO. K13.3:  FIRST NATIONS VIDEO.


4EXHIBIT NO. K13.4:  COLLECTION OF MAPS.




No UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING.

Friday, December 16, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:23 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone, please be seated.

Apologize for not being able to welcome you properly this morning -- technical difficulties, and we had hoped we would be able to make a smooth transition over to this side of the building without running into those difficulties, but here we are, so we will get started.

Okay.  Mr. Nettleton, did you have anything?

MR. NETTLETON:  I do.  It's nice to have broken through to the other side.
Preliminary Matters:


Last night, Mr. Chairman, I filed two letters concerning compendium materials that I will be using in my cross-examination.  Just so that there is no confusion, the two letters were filed, but the attachments to those letters had materials that were numbered consecutively, so it's intended to be one compendium, and I would ask that both documents are treated as a singular compendium and marked as a single exhibit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just to be clear then, Mr. Nettleton, the last page is page 74?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  We have to whole thing then, great.

MS. LEA:  K13.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K13.1:  COMPENDIUM MATERIALS SUBMITTED BY MR. NETTLETON.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  And the other preliminary matter I have, sir, is just an administration matter.  From the transcript on Day 12 we noted that the Undertaking J12.9 is repeated in the transcript, and so I am wondering if we could just take that under advisement or pass that on to the court reporter and Board Staff, but it was just something that we noted that may require some attention.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, so it could possibly be that we haven't recorded an undertaking properly?  It's a matter of going back to the transcript and taking a look at the undertakings that are there.  Is that the suggestion --


MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah, we had noted in the transcript that J12.9 was listed to compare the actual electricity prices with the 2013 LTEP, and there was also a reference to J12.9 as an undertaking to provide two load forecasts --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Oh, I see.

MR. NETTLETON:  -- so I think there may be a sequential issue, that's all.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.  Okay.  Thank you for that.

Mr. Nettleton --


MS. LEA:  We can always call them 9A and B if necessary.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think Ms. DeMarco has some preliminary matters too.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  We just thought we would be more efficient if we marked some of the exhibits that are now before you in advance of getting into things.

The first is, although the evidence of Dr. Richardson was filed on November 9th in accordance with the procedural order, I understand that it hasn't yet been given an exhibit number, so I thought that we may want to mark Dr. Richardson's evidence as an exhibit at this point.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Ms. --


MS. LEA:  Yes, let's do so.  Dr. Richardson's evidence will be K13.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K13.2:  ANWAATIN INTERVENOR EVIDENCE FROM DR. RICHARDSON.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  And just for your convenience, I note that that was reproduced in full by my friend Mr. Nettleton in their compendium.  I have been alerted that you don't have hard copies, but you should in that compendium.

The second is, attached to that evidence is a video of the First Nations communities speaking for themselves, and we would love for that video to be given its own exhibit number, if we could, but it is attached and was attached to the November 9th filing of evidence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. LEA:  We will give the video K13.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K13.3:  FIRST NATIONS VIDEO.

MS. LEA:  I think it would also be useful if the link -- I think that when we get to looking at the video the court reporter won't be recording it, but the link if it is in the transcript may be of use to folk who need to get that link up quickly.

MS. DeMARCO:  And I am happy to read that link into the record.  It is https://www.youtube.com/watch?v= -- and you can tell my age now -- ofgea2QFzQY&feature=youtu.be.

MS. LEA:  So perhaps if you could just write it out for the court reporter at some point.

MS. DeMARCO:  We can do that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And, yeah, if -- I am not sure about the technology, but if we can put it in the electronic transcript, that URL, if that's possible, I think that will make life easier for everyone.

MS. LEA:  I think we can, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  And I believe the fourth exhibit that you'll mark this morning is we have just provided you for convenience with maps of where they are, the First Nations that are members of Anwaatin, are located.  I wonder if we could have that marked as an exhibit.

MS. LEA:  Collectively the maps, 13.4, K13.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K13.4:  COLLECTION OF MAPS.

MR. QUESNELLE:  There are three pieces to that, I take it.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then, Mr. Chair, one further typo that I came across last night in Dr. Richardson's evidence on page 14.

The fifth bullet up from the bottom reads "an annual reporting and tracking mechanism for engagement with indigenous communities and how there", t-h-e-r-e, "issues and concerns".  It should be t-h-e-i-r.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  And then Mr. Chair, prior to going into the affirmation process, you may recall that in prior proceedings Anwaatin conducted a smudging ceremony, and this is particularly important to their Elders to ensure that what they would view as analogous to an affirmation or swearing takes place.

We don't have an Elder here.  We will not go through with a smudging ceremony, but I have been asked to speak briefly to the principles that underlie that, and as you know, this is an indigenous tradition, very prominent, particularly in Canada, where ceremonial sage or other herbs are burned and the smoke is passed along all of the entities in the room to signify first a clearing of the eyes so that those involved may see clearly and without bias, the ears so that everything can be heard clearly and without bias and in a fair manner, and that the mouth, everything that's spoken, is truthful, honest, and reflective of the principle of the generations that they represent, and finally, the smoke is passed over the whole body and the head to signify a clear mind that will occur and be used and brought to bear in bringing forth witness to what is happening and what the evidence will be.

So if I can speak to that, and if I've done a disservice I will ask Dr. Richardson to add anything that I should be adding about that process.

DR. RICHARDSON:  I think you have characterized it very well, and it's a process that often happens before gatherings where people are listening to one another, weighing facts, weighing elements of discussion and making important decisions, so I think it's an appropriate way to introduce the evidence today.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you for that.

MS. DeMARCO:  So we will consider this grouping to have been quasi-smudged, and I will ask that the witness be affirmed at this point as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.
ANWAATIN - PANEL 1

Don Richardson, Affirmed


MR. QUESNELLE:  Whenever you are ready, Ms. DeMarco.
Examination-In-Chief by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Please tell us your name and your occupation.

DR. RICHARDSON:  My name is Don Richardson.  I am a consultant with a company called Shared Values Solutions.  We are a consulting firm that specializes in working with First Nation, Metis, and Inuit clients on infrastructure projects, regulatory issues, and environmental assessment matters, and we service clients from Saskatchewan through to Nova Scotia and up to Nunavut.

MS. DeMARCO:  And can you provide us with a brief description of your professional background?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I am a sociologist with a focus on something called industrial sociology, which is looking at the interface between communities and project proponents, industries, and industry projects that are being proposed, and my role is to help bring community members together with companies typically or with government agencies and help them move -- we always say move the ball forward, whatever that might happen to look like.

MS. DeMARCO:  And who are the Anwaatin First Nations?  And just reminding the Board that we have an Exhibit K13.4 on this point.

DR. RICHARDSON:  So the Anwaatin communities are a group that consists of communities from Lake Nipigon over to north of Geraldton in northwestern Ontario, together with MoCreebec Eeyoud, which is a First Nation community that resides -- sort of a combination of Moose Factory Island and Moosonee in northeastern Ontario.

The communities around Lake Nipigon are organized through a development corporation called Waaskiinaysay Ziibi Inc.  We just call it WZI, or WZ Inc., and WZI is a well-organized economic development corporation that represents the First Nations of -- let's see if we get the full list here -- so five that includes the bands in Lake Nipigon Watershed, Biinjitiwaabik Zaaging Anishinaabek, or BZA, or Rocky Bay First Nation, which is a historic name.  Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek, or BNA, the Red Rock Indian band, Whitesand First Nation, and Animbiigoo Zaagiigan Anishinaabek, or AZA, and collectively with MoCreebec for the purposes of this hearing we will just refer to them as the Anwaatin communities.

MS. LEA:  Just for clarity, I wonder if you could help the court reporter with the spelling of the names eventually, but on the maps, are we going to relate that to the maps?  That would be great.

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, I can -- if you can bear with me here, the WZI communities are around the southwest and southeast shores of Lake Nipigon, together with a new reserve that AZA is creating at Partridge Bay, which is partway along the A4L line on this map.


Aroland First Nation is not part of the WZI group.  They are one of the Matawa First Nations, and they are located about -- probably about 50 or 60 kilometres north of the A4L, the main transmission line there.  And then MoCreebec Eeyoud, if you flip to the last map there, we are looking at the -- an island in the middle of that river, plus the community of Moosonee, and they also have some members in Timmins as well.

And like -- in some ways like AZA, they are a community that doesn't have an actual reserve with houses on it.  They are in the process of getting that established.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  And what is your relationship to Anwaatin, Dr. Richardson?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I am a technical consultant for Anwaatin and assist with regulatory matters, and I have been retained by Anwaatin to provide the evidence today.

MS. DeMARCO:  And have you ever testified before the OEB?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  Also being retained by Anwaatin to address the Board on the hearings that just were finalized on the extension of natural gas to rural, remote, and First Nation communities in Ontario, representing the same group of First Nations.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Dr. Richardson.  Now, let's turn to what you did in this proceeding.  Can you describe what you were asked to do and what you did in this proceeding?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, I was asked to provide a voice for this group of First Nations and to make sure that their issues related to the reliability of the transmission systems that they need to deal with, and the cost factors are taken into consideration, and very importantly, that they find appropriate ways to make sure that their voices are heard, that they are properly engaged, and that initiatives like rate increase or initiatives like -- that are connected to improving or enhancing the transmission system, that they are part of the process, they are at the table in those processes, so this is not a familiar process for most of these First Nations to get involved in a hearing process, and so they are quite interested to see where this will take them and if their voices will be acknowledged and heard and make a difference.

MS. DeMARCO:  And specifically what did you do in this proceeding?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, I've put together evidence.  So I've met with the communities, numerous telephone calls with community leaders.  In the case of the video you will see here I went up -- I flew up to Thunder Bay, rented a car, drove for four hours, and went to Aroland and did some additional interviews, and with a colleague from my company who shot this video so that you would have some first-person evidence from the community members, and spent a lot of time talking to both leaders and community members about their experiences with reliability issues and their goals and objectives to improve their access to reliable electricity for their membership and for their communities, and one of the things I was told very clearly to relate is that one of the chiefs said to me yesterday, she said, "Remember, you're there for the kids, you are there for our children and our children's children, and to think about how this proceeding might actually make a difference for children seven generations down the line."


So I take my instructions very seriously.  So that's part of why I am here.

MS. DeMARCO:  And do you adopt the evidence that you filed?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, I do.

MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if you can explain in that evidence, there are several references to stakeholders and First Nations.  What's the difference between the stakeholder and First Nation?

DR. RICHARDSON:  If you have ever used the word "stakeholder" referring to a First Nation, you will see a very visceral reaction.  First Nation members typically do not like to be called stakeholders.  They see themselves, and they are, rights holders, and they have rights that are recognized in the section 35 of the Constitution Act, and those rights -- they will affirm those rights every time you mention the word "stakeholder".

So they are not just stakeholders, they are rights holders, and they have a very special relationship with the Crown through the treaties that they have signed.

MS. DeMARCO:  I wonder if you can provide us with a very brief summary of the central points of your evidence.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  I will start with the situation of energy poverty in the communities, and when we were at the hearing for the natural gas extension to rural, remote, and First Nation communities we mentioned that as well.

And energy poverty, it's not just a cost issue.  So, yes, these communities are paying exceptionally high electricity bills.  Because they do not have access to natural gas or other alternatives for heat, they are very dependent on electricity for heating their homes, typically supplemented with wood.  But really relying on electricity for heat.

And in the wintertime, you know, bills can range up to $1,000 a month for the combination of wood and electricity for a small home.  And these are people who don't make a lot of money, so this is a significant portion of their income.  So there is a cost factor.

But reliability is a really significant part of the concept of energy poverty.  So to get out of energy poverty you need to have affordable energy, but you also have to have access to modern electricity or modern energy systems that work.

And because of the reliability of the systems that these communities are attached to, they have some very real concerns about not just the cost, but how the reliability impacts their lives, and what you will see in the video is some first-person testimony about those impacts.

But these impacts on reliability are huge.  And you will hear a little bit more about one specific case in late August of 2016 where there was a 24-hour outage and how that impacted lives across the communities, and I will supplement that with some additional information.

These are also communities that want to see change, and they are working very diligently to make change happen with the tools and resources that they have available.  And they look to government.  They also look to the private-sector companies that have connections to them to work with them and to sit down with them and to be part of making solutions happen.

And one of the -- you know, in my experience, 25 years working with First Nations, they have solutions.  If people are willing to listen and sit down and get into collaborative planning with communities, it's amazing the kinds of solutions that can come up, solutions that people don't usually come to the table knowing until they have sat at the table and they have worked together with very creative, very intelligent people who know their lands and waters, who know the resources around them, know the capabilities and resources in their territories, and can bring those resources to bear to solve problems.

And the challenge with this particular application is that there was really no meaningful consultation that happened with these communities around dealing with the reliability issues that they are experiencing, and that's why I am here.  They said, you know, you are one more tool in our tool kit to get out there and see if we can make a difference and see if we can get some people in the government and people within Hydro One really wanting to engage and sitting down to engage in some collaborative planning to make a difference and find some productive solutions to these very real problems.


And I can describe what some of the other activities they are involved in, because they can't put all their eggs in the Hydro One basket, because that basket isn't working very well for them, so they are looking at a variety of alternatives to solve the same reliability issues and cost issues.

MS. DeMARCO:  So Dr. Richardson, what would be the ideal outcome for Anwaatin from this proceeding?

DR. RICHARDSON:  You know, being able to -- these communities, being able to work directly with Hydro One, sitting at a table, rolling up sleeves, looking at what the specific local regional issues are, and working together to find solutions to reliability.

These communities are already working on solutions for reliability, but they need a partner at the table that really wants to work with them.

MS. DeMARCO:  And so I wonder if it's appropriate now for us to play the video so the First Nations can speak for themselves.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.

[Video played]

DR. RICHARDSON:  Thank you for attending to that, and if those two councillors from Aroland First Nation were here, I think they would really appreciate your attention to that.

MS. DeMARCO:  So with that, I will tender the witness for cross-examination or questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  Mr. Nettleton.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Nettleton:

MR. NETTLETON:  Good morning.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Good morning, Dr. Richardson.

Dr. Richardson, if I could just first take you to page 16 of our compendium, which is your CV.  And I just want to understand a little bit about your past and your history and your work experience.

Dr. Richardson, is it fair to say that your experience has been in the area of infrastructure development and consulting for projects that -- and clients that are involved in infrastructure development?

DR. RICHARDSON:  A large part of my work, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  And that includes environmental assessments; correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  In fact, you were a co-author of a guide regarding the use of Indigenous Aboriginal traditional knowledge.

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct; for the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency.

MR. NETTLETON:  And the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency is triggered when there is a new infrastructure project development of some scale; correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Under CEAA 2012 there is a list of what they call a trigger list of the type of projects that would be triggered for an environmental assessment.  If it's on the list it triggers an EA.

MR. NETTLETON:  Right.  But not all projects are triggered under CEAA, correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  Correct me if I am wrong, but I didn't see anywhere in your CV that indicates some experience with rate applications of utilities; is that fair?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Not for the transmission system, but I have had experience with rate applications related to telecommunications services.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is that in your CV, sir?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No, it's not, it's work that I did overseas through the World Bank, though, so this was more of a Canadian focus here.

MR. NETTLETON:  So with respect to -- with respect to proceedings before this Board, this is a new area for you to be participating in, rate applications.

DR. RICHARDSON:  With the exception of the evidence provided for the natural gas hearing, yeah, this is a fairly new experience, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Dr. Richardson, when you prepared your evidence, did you turn your mind to consultation that other utilities that are under this Board's jurisdiction carry out for rate applications?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Can you explain?

MR. NETTLETON:  Yeah, did you look at, for example, how Union Gas or Enbridge, Consumers Gas, other -- or even OPG carry out stakeholder consultations for purposes of preparing rate applications?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No, my clients were focused on this particular transmission line and its reliability and its impact on their lives, so they were most focused on that line, the line up to Moosonee and Moose Factory, and the impacts of that infrastructure.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  If I could have you turn to -- I want to now go to your evidence proper, and maybe if we go to the start of your evidence.  And I just want to put some context, sir, to the preparation of this document.

My recollection, Dr. Richardson, was that you're listed as one of the parties when Anwaatin, your client, intervened in this proceeding.  You have received all of the documentation in this proceeding; is that fair?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, I have, yeah.

MR. NETTLETON:  And with respect to Procedural Order 3, which I am going to ask if it could come up on the overhead, you will recall that at page 3 there was some discussion at the outset of this proceeding regarding the issues list.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And one of the issues that we were debating was the scope of the customer engagement issue.  Do you recall that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  And if I take you to page 4 of that order, you will see the paragraphs, starting with reference to the filing requirements for transmitters.  Do you see that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And above that you will also see -- actually, below that you will also see discussion about the Transmission System Code, or the TSC.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MS. DeMARCO:  I am just a little concerned about where my friend is going, if he is looking for a legal interpretation.

MR. NETTLETON:  Nope, nope, I am not.  I am just wondering, sir, whether you -- you had knowledge of the Board's decision with respect to this issue; correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Absolutely.

MR. NETTLETON:  Right.  And can you explain how you took these findings into account when you prepared your evidence?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  There is two pathways around the approach.  One is that all of the First Nation ratepayers that pay hydro bills are paying a distribution charge, and ultimately there is a portion of that charge that is connected to Hydro One Transmission and a direct relationship to what they are paying with their own money to eventually make its way to Hydro One Transmission.  That's one pathway.

The other pathway is that they are working on solutions, and in the case of the Nipigon communities and Aroland and also with MoCreebec Eeyoud they are very actively pursuing both power generation projects where they could be connected to Hydro One Transmission or, in the case of the Nipigon group with Aroland, are pursuing an alternative transmission line to the A4L and advocating for a new 230 KV line where, in the absence of any movement to deal with the reliability, they would become the proponents of that line and would move that forward.

And I'd be happy to provide some additional information on that if there's interest.

MR. NETTLETON:  Did you review the Transmission System Code before preparing this evidence?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I read through it.  I wouldn't say I am an expert, though.

MR. NETTLETON:  Did you have any involvement with the Ontario Power Authority's obligation to prepare the historical Integrated Power System Plan?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Not directly.  I was part of a consulting group that assisted the OPA with the development of the Aboriginal community energy plan program, which was a program that was rolled out to First Nations and Metis communities across Ontario to allow them to get involved in doing their own community energy planning and looking at not only what they could do in the case of First Nations on reserve or in their regions, but also looking at how they could engage with other entities in the power and energy sphere in their regions.

MR. NETTLETON:  Was that back when the obligation first arose to prepare the IPSP, do you know?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I can't recall.

MR. NETTLETON:  2005 was when the IPSP was first -- the obligation first arose.  Does that time --


DR. RICHARDSON:  I am getting old.

MR. NETTLETON:  We all are.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Let me think back.  No, it would have been after that, yeah.

MR. NETTLETON:  Now, sir, I want to take you to page 4 of your evidence, and this is where you discuss one of the prior decisions that was issued by this Board and the application that Hydro One filed.  And it was described as the EB-2006-0501 proceeding.  Do you see that?

MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Nettleton, I believe that's 2005-0601.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, there is a -- yes, my mistake.  2005-0501.  Do you see that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, I see that, thanks.

MR. NETTLETON:  Okay.  Now, you spent some time looking at this decision and explained the circumstances surrounding the consultation program that took place in that case; correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And so you conducted the research required to make these statements?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And the reference in the footnote shows that there is reference to the Hydro One website; do you see that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  So is that the source that you used for purposes of looking at that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yeah, I believe that's correct, yeah.

MR. NETTLETON:  How many cases, Dr. Richardson, are there following this decision that have come before this Board regarding rate applications made by Hydro One Transmission?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I don't know.

MR. NETTLETON:  You don't know?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you know whether there is on that website every transmission rate application that Hydro One has prepared?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I would assume so, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is there reason, sir, why you didn't look at other transmission rate applications and the stakeholdering and stakeholder programs that Hydro One carried out following this decision?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I did look at them.  I didn't prepare a comprehensive review.  I looked for evidence that there was a fairly robust approach to consultation, and the one from this particular record here, 2005-0501, was evidence of a very robust, well-described consultation program.

I didn't see that in the other proceedings that I scanned through, and so I used this as a reference point, as a benchmark, if you will, describing from a -- I think from a Hydro One perspective a reasonably good effort at engaging with First Nations and Metis communities.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you know, sir, whether the program that was carried out in the 2005-0501 process was repeated in any other of Hydro One Transmission's rate applications?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I don't know for certain, but with the reviews that I did it didn't look apparent that there was something similar to that happening.

MR. NETTLETON:  All right.  Did you investigate or make inquiries as to why that might have been the case?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No, I just looked at the record that was there.  Usually in these types of processes there is a good evidentiary record or record of consultation that's made public, and so it's there or it's not there.

MR. NETTLETON:  If I could have you turn to page 55 of my compendium, sir.  This was the -- this page, page 55 and page 54, are the -- are pages from the 2005-0501 application document, and I just want to turn your attention to lines 15 through -- actually, I guess it's -- yeah, lines -- I guess the sentence starts at line 14 and carries on to the end of this page, 25.

And you will see that there was discussion about the integrated system plan that was being developed -- sorry, the Integrated Power System Plan, the IPSP, being developed at the time.  Do you see that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yup.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you have any --


MS. DeMARCO:  I am sorry, Mr. Chair, I wonder if you could pinpoint the reference to the IPSP.

MR. NETTLETON:  It's at line 17.  Page 55.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah, I think the record shows, I think you misspoke, Mr. Nettleton, and mentioned page 25.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry, 55.

So I just was curious whether you had reason to doubt that during the time of this application the IPSP was something that was underscoring the approach that was being taken by Hydro One in its application and stakeholdering --


DR. RICHARDSON:  My understanding of Hydro One's intention here is based on the first paragraph on page 54, second line:

“Based on its previous experience with such applications, the involvement of stakeholders and First Nations was recognized as critical to developing a submission that reflected the broad interests and concerns of Hydro One constituencies."

So I took that to -- my understanding of that is that Hydro One has an understanding of the critical nature of involving First Nations in applications of this nature.

MR. NETTLETON:  And that application was an application where the IPSP was in the development stages; correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And would you think it's reasonable for an applicant to take the development of an IPSP into account in the approach that it takes for stakeholdering and the process that is used for developing an application of that nature?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I would agree with that, and with other types of applications where First Nation interests, rights, and needs are very much at play.

MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, it's the case that the IPSP ultimately resulted in the planning for very significant transmission projects, like the northwest expansion project, that would have affected your clients' communities; correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  They are not seeing much impact at this point, no.

MR. NETTLETON:  No, I realize now.  I am talking about then.

DR. RICHARDSON:  I would have to do a bit more reading to be able to say yes or no to that.

MR. NETTLETON:  Are you aware of the northwest expansion project?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you know whether it came about in the time period of the 2005 application?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I don't know for sure.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Chair, I am just a little concerned.  Nowhere in Dr. Richardson's evidence do we have anything in relation to the northwest expansion plan or anything of that nature, so I wonder if we could attempt to confine the questions to Dr. Richardson's evidence.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Dr. Richardson's evidence does refer to the 2005 decision and application, and I am testing whether -- what knowledge Dr. Richardson had of that application, as he has referred to it in his evidence.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Nettleton.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the context that Mr. Nettleton is looking for, Ms. DeMarco, is appropriate, and that it stems directly from the evidence.

MR. NETTLETON:  If I could turn you to page 57 of our compendium.  And page 57 is an excerpt page from the next rate case that Hydro One filed, the 2008-0272 proceeding.  And it's Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 1, page 5 of 27.  I have also included page 56, which is the initial page of that section of that exhibit.

But what I want to turn your attention to is lines 4 and 5 on page 57.  And there you will see that First Nations were invited to participate in the consultation processes that Hydro One had established for purposes of this application.  Do you see that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, I do.

MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, do you know if First Nations accepted the invitation to participate in the consultation process?

DR. RICHARDSON:  If you can provide the evidence of the invitations and how that process was executed and what the responses were, I'd be happy to review those.

MR. NETTLETON:  I am just turning your attention to that sentence where it says:

“Hydro One had invited First Nations, political and treaty organizations, and the Metis nation of Ontario to participate in the consultation process."

Do you see that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, I see that.  But I don't see the actual invitations, and I don't know what process was executed to provide those invitations.  So, you know, was that a radio ad, was that a letter that went out, was it a publication in the Globe & Mail?  I don't know what the nature of those invitations were and how the communities might have been able to respond.

MR. NETTLETON:  Because you didn't look at this as part of your evidence?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I saw this last night, and the first question I had was, where is the evidence of the invitations?  What do those invitations look like, and what ability would my clients have had to review those and respond?  I don't see that information, so I can't really comment much further until I see.  I mean, if you could undertake to provide those, then I could provide some further comment.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sir, you did not look at this case, this application, as part of the evidence that you prepared and have submitted as part of your report; correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I looked very closely at the filings, the OEB filings, from Hydro One for transmission rate applications to see if there was evidence of robust consultation, including evidence of invitation letters.  But I did not see those for this particular filing.

If you have those, I would -- you know, if I have missed those and if you have those I would really appreciate being able to review those and take a look at that type of approach to consultation in comparison to the 2006 and in comparison to the attempt at consultation for this current application.

MR. NETTLETON:  I think we are at cross-purposes here. I want to understand the steps that you took, sir, for preparing your report.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.  I went to the OEB website and I looked at the rate applications and I looked for evidence that there was consultation.  Not just a statement that something happened, but evidence that there were invitations and a process that could be described as to how that consultation was executed.

MR. NETTLETON:  I thought your evidence, sir, was that you went to the Hydro One website?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No, I went to the OEB website.  I went to Hydro One as well, but I went to the OEB website.

MR. NETTLETON:  You understand, sir, that this is the next case following the 2005 case that you have referred to in your evidence.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, I understand that.

MR. NETTLETON:  And your evidence now is that you actually did go to this application?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I went to the -- I didn't go to the application to read the entire application.  I went to dig in and see if I could find evidence of First Nation consultation and what that looked like, not just a statement that somebody was invited, but are there invitations letters, was there -- as in the 2006 process, was there a clear description of what happened and how the consultation affected Hydro One's decision-making.

I don't see that in this case, and when I reviewed this I didn't see that evidence apparent.

MR. NETTLETON:  Did you review this case last night, or did you review it before you prepared your evidence?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I reviewed it back in September.

MR. NETTLETON:  Why did you not refer to it in your evidence, sir?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Because there was very little evidence of consultation, other than some vague statements about invitations.

MR. NETTLETON:  And the fact that there was such a difference between what happened in 2005 and 2008 didn't cause you any type of concern?

DR. RICHARDSON:  My concern was that what happened in 2005/2006 was a reasonable effort, and in the current application I didn't see evidence of that reasonable effort that Hydro One seems capable of applying itself to.

MR. NETTLETON:  But, sir, we are talking about the 2008, the next application.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And I am asking you -- I think your evidence is that there was a marked difference between what happened in 2005 and what happened in 2008.

DR. RICHARDSON:  No, my evidence is there is a marked difference between what happened in 2005/2006 and what's happening for this current application.  So I am comparing a reasonable approach to consultation that Hydro One executed with what's happening for this current application.  And I will be frank.  I didn't see evidence in the 2008 application that would give me reason to believe that there was a similar reasonable effort at consultation in comparison to 2005/2006.

MR. NETTLETON:  And it's that change that I want to understand why that didn't trigger anything in your mind to investigate why?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I am looking at this application and Hydro One's history of consultation around rate applications.  I found one solid piece of evidence that there was a reasonable effort made, and then I looked for other evidence, including for this application, and I wasn't finding any.  And if you have that from the 2008, I would really appreciate seeing it.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, Dr. Richardson, I mean, the information about prior applications are readily available on the public record.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  So that's why I was asking you the questions about whether when you prepared your evidence -- I was surprised that there was nothing in your evidence about the 2008 proceeding.  But we will move on.

DR. RICHARDSON:  But if you have -- if you have similar records that would compare to the records that were provided for the 2006 case, please, you know, if you could have an undertaking to provide those, that would be appreciated, because I could not find those on the public record.

MR. NETTLETON:  Dr. Richardson --


MS. DeMARCO:  Sorry, just so that I am clear, will you provide such --


MR. NETTLETON:  No, I am not making an undertaking.  I am not taking an undertaking, Ms. DeMarco.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry, we are just struggling to determine what you are referring to here specifically.

MR. NETTLETON:  Mr. Chairman, I think the point is made.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood, Mr. Nettleton.  You are testing the evidence, and if that's as far as you want to take it, that's fine.

MR. NETTLETON:  Dr. Richardson, you're aware, are you, that the participation of Anwaatin in this proceeding will mean that as an intervenor Anwaatin will be part of the next Hydro One rate application consultation process?

DR. RICHARDSON:  If I get those instructions from my clients, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sorry.  From Hydro One's perspective, the fact that Anwaatin has participated in this proceeding means, for Hydro One, that Anwaatin will be invited to participate in consultation processes for the next rate application that it makes.

DR. RICHARDSON:  I will take your word for that, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And is that something that you would be advising your client to participate in?

DR. RICHARDSON:  If I am asked to, yes.  If I am not asked to, I would not.

MR. NETTLETON:  But is it your evidence, sir, that your client should participate in consultation processes that Hydro One carries out for rate applications?

DR. RICHARDSON:  The First Nations that are represented here will make the decisions that they make about how they wish to proceed.  And I don't know what those decisions will be at this point.  I would expect that they will continue to have an interest, but I don't know that for sure until those decisions are put in front of them.

MR. NETTLETON:  But what's your recommendation, sir?  Would you recommend that they participate or not?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I would recommend that they participate.  How they choose to do that is entirely up to them.

MR. NETTLETON:  If I can have you turn to page 9 of the compendium.  And it's a carry-over from paragraph 8 on page 8, where you talk about the 115 KV transmission line, the A4L.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Now, is it your understanding that that is the transmission line that serves a number of your clients?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  What is your understanding of that transmission line in the context of this proceeding?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, there is a rate application for Hydro One Transmission that would include that piece of infrastructure as part of the delivery mechanism for transmitting electrons to these communities.

MR. NETTLETON:  Are you aware or have you reviewed the application that Hydro One has made regarding the sustainment capital budget?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I have scanned it, but I wouldn't say I am familiar with it.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you know whether any of the sustainment budget includes programs related to A4L?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I am aware that there is a program to replace some of the wooden poles on the A4L, and I am aware that there may be some planned work on a substation in Geraldton around the A4L.

MR. NETTLETON:  You are not an engineer, are you, sir?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Not at all.

MR. NETTLETON:  So with respect to the topic of reliability, your understanding of the topic is probably better, if not the same, as mine, as a common person.  But as a common person, would you expect that if poles that have come or reached end of life or if improvements are made to substations, would they have an effect of improving reliability?

DR. RICHARDSON:  The jury's out on that one, and I've talked to some of the First Nation leaders about this recently.  They are not convinced that's going to make a change.  The duration of outages seems to be more related to how quickly the faults can be detected, not directly related to the quality of the wooden poles, from their perspective.

One of the suggestions one of the community members had is that, you know, maybe -- they were referring to a ranger program, maybe like a ranger program where First Nations are out there as almost like conservation officers doing environmental protection work.  Maybe there could be a similar program to help spot potential risks on the line and to be trained and to be part of crews that go out and detect faults to reduce the duration of the outages, because they are there, they have a variety of vehicles that can get access to areas that are difficult to get to, snowmobiles and ATVs and so forth, and they know the land.

It was an interesting suggestion.  But, you know, from their perspective that would probably provide more reliability around the duration of outages than replacing poles.

MR. NETTLETON:  Dr. Richardson, part of your recommendations related to increased participation in regional planning; correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, with Hydro One.

MR. NETTLETON:  Could I have you turn to page 52 of the compendium.  And this is a letter from Peter Fraser, vice-president of industry, operations, and performance of the Ontario Energy Board.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  You see that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Did you have this letter or were you aware of this letter when you prepared your evidence?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No, I actually only saw it last night, and it would appear that there is some additional correspondence context that isn't part of this that I would appreciate being able to see to be able to comment in more detail on this.

MR. NETTLETON:  Well, let's deal with the letter, sir.  You'll see at -- that this letter appears to have been a request by First Nations and Metis for representation on the regional planning process advisory group and on the OEB's executive advisory committees.  That's described in the first paragraph.

DR. RICHARDSON:  I am sorry, Irv Klajman is -- what's his relationship to First Nations?  I am not sure.

MR. NETTLETON:  I am directing you to the first paragraph of the letter, where it says:

“Thank you for your May 12th letter, as it relates to First Nations and Metis representation on the RRPAG and their involvement on the OEB chair's executive advisory committees."

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you see that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  All right.  And in the second paragraph there is discussion that this is a matter that involved input from the independent electric system operator.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Understood.

MR. NETTLETON:  And we then go down to the bottom of the page, where there is -- you will see discussion that:

“In areas where there are a large number of First Nations communities a First Nations local advisory committee will be established in that regional planning."

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Or, sorry, "in that planning region".

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON: 
"And once this committee is established they will appoint two representatives to be members of the local advisory committee."

Do you see that?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Is that consistent with your recommendation, sir, that First Nations have a role and involvement in the regional planning process?

DR. RICHARDSON:  It's consistent with what I would expect from the OEB and from the IESO, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Nettleton, before you leave this, Dr. Richardson asked for the identity of Mr. Klajman.  Could that be made clear as to who he is?

MR. NETTLETON:  I will have to find out his specific title, sir.  I don't have the May 12th letter with me --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just the --


MR. NETTLETON:  But I can certainly find that out.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  He is acting as the chair of the regional planning process advisory group, but just his -- what his representation is on that committee I think would be helpful.

MR. NETTLETON:  Sir, I want to turn to your second recommendation, found at page 13 of our compendium.  And this concerns a best practices document, best practice guide.  I believe that's at paragraph 26.

DR. RICHARDSON:  That's correct.

MR. NETTLETON:  Dr. Richardson, do you have direct experience with Hydro One's current First Nations and Metis engagement and consultation processes?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Not direct, no.

MR. NETTLETON:  Did you take any steps to understand the practices that Hydro One carries out when engaging with First Nations?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I've looked very closely at the Hydro One website to see what documents were there that would guide both First Nations and Metis who may wish to engage and to guide staff and to guide the organization in terms of its approaches to consultation.

MR. NETTLETON:  Are you aware that Hydro One has a committee on its board of directors that specifically deals with First Nations and Metis members?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I am aware, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Are you aware Hydro One conducts engagement activities on a project basis?

DR. RICHARDSON:  I am aware, yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  And, sir, based on your experience with other energy infrastructure developments, can we agree that carrying out Aboriginal consultation on a project basis is a common practice?

DR. RICHARDSON:  It's a common practice, and it's done very well when the people involved have really good guidance from board and management as to what the expectations are, what the expectations are for how these processes are organized, and how the organization is expecting to benefit in its decision-making process from a robust consultation process.

When those types of, in this case, you know, a best practice guide or similar are available, in my experience you see much stronger engagement, much stronger consultation, and you actually see better projects result, because the consultation is informing decision-making, and that's the objective here with this recommendation.

MR. NETTLETON:  Part of your recommendation seems to be beyond just the role of Hydro One, though, correct?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, no, in this recommendation I am suggesting here that Hydro One create a best practice guide for its Indigenous consultation.

MR. NETTLETON:  But can we turn to page 14 of your compendium -- or of my compendium, page 14 of your evidence.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Right.

MR. NETTLETON:  Isn't part of your recommendation as part of this guide to also include the role of Hydro One, the Board, and Ontario in Crown consultation and accommodation processes?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yeah, the people that would be executing consultation on behalf of Hydro One need to have an understanding of how consultation impacts decisions.  And some of those decisions will be Hydro One decisions, some of them will be Board decision, some of them will be Ontario Crown decisions.

And, you know, in this case there could be opportunities for people to better understand that context and provide a better consultation process to help people express needs, express solutions that they have, and many of those solutions may be appropriate to Hydro One, but in the process of consultation work, good -- people who practice this well will be aware of when they need to take something to a different body other than maybe the proponent that's at hand.

So good consultation people would have an understanding of not only what the proponent's objectives are and goals, but also where they fit in the context and where some issues might be brought to other parties.

MR. NETTLETON:  You're aware, are you, sir, that Hydro One has participated in new project developments that have affected First Nation constitutionally protected rights?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Absolutely.

MR. NETTLETON:  Are you aware of the Bruce to Milton project?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MR. NETTLETON:  Do you have any reason to believe that Hydro One took into account and conducted consultation that was used by the Crown to meet and fulfil its obligations of consultation in that project?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, and I think Hydro One likely learned a lot of lessons through that project.  I am aware that there were some challenges early on with how the consultation process was moving, and towards the end, at least for Saugeen Ojibway Nation, there was a very positive outcome that derived from that consultation process.

I don't think that happened because the consultation was great to start with, but I think the consultation probably got better on that project as things moved along.

MR. NETTLETON:  Are you familiar, sir, with the size and individuals that are in Hydro One's Aboriginal and First Nation engagement department?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No, I don't know the staff complement.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Dr. Richardson.

Mr. Chairman, Irv Klajman is the chair, regional planning process advisory committee, and is the director of engineering planning at PowerStream.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you --


MR. NETTLETON:  Or what was PowerStream.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Just so that I am clear on that point, he is not a First Nations entity?

MR. NETTLETON:  I am just reading what -- I have read what the --


MR. QUESNELLE:  He is director of engineering, planning at PowerStream, and it's in that capacity that he acts as a representative on that committee, I take it?

MR. NETTLETON:  I think so, yes, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MS. LEA:  Mr. Chairman, just to indicate, I do have a couple of questions, whenever it's convenient to ask them.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Yauch.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Yauch:

MR. YAUCH:  Good afternoon.  Is my microphone working?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, it is.

MR. YAUCH:  Yeah, okay.  Thanks.  So I just have a couple questions.  I will be pretty brief.

So as I read your evidence, your proposal is essentially that you just want more consultation with First Nation groups.  You're not advocating for regulatory changes or anything on that path.  You just want more consultation.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Consultation with the objective of getting to solutions.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  And part of the reason that you want this consultation and potentially these solutions is that you think First Nations are kind of getting a raw deal.  They pay high rates, but they are getting sub-par service.

DR. RICHARDSON:  And they have solutions that need to be attended to.

MR. YAUCH:  So in your evidence you list many of the problems that have happened, from a blackout, that there was food wastage, and we saw the YouTube video.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Correct.

MR. YAUCH:  But as I was going through that I saw that almost all the problems are related to reliability, and there was very little related to price concerns.

If you had to weigh the concerns of First Nations, is reliability a ten and price is lower?

DR. RICHARDSON:  It's energy poverty, which is a combination of both.  And the experience they have is the combination of both.  So I wouldn't say that they would choose to weight one over the other.  It's an overall experience that I think the concept of energy poverty characterizes quite well.

MR. YAUCH:  And in your report you -- the only line I could find about price is you mention one First Nation energy accounts for 5.5 percent of their disposable income.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Correct.

MR. YAUCH:  That's correct?  And have you done an analysis on the per kilowatt hour that First Nation customers pay compared to other customers in the province?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No, not across the board, no.

MR. YAUCH:  Are First Nations paying higher on a per kilowatt basis than other rural customers?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No, I mean, they have the same rate structure as other rural customers, so...

MR. YAUCH:  So when they talk about high rates, that's not actually endemic to First Nations groups, it's endemic to everyone in rural Ontario, if you think they are high.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yeah, if you are on a rate group that's classified as low-density or medium-density, yeah, you are paying high rates.  It applies to all ratepayers.

MR. YAUCH:  So they are not paying higher than anyone else currently.

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Now, I guess my final question really is related to how the Board would deal with this.  So the problem is you pay higher rates than non-rural customers, but your service is worse than other customers.  Some of the solutions that you might propose in these consultations, would one of them potentially be a penalty/reward system for Hydro One, in which when their reliability falls in these outlier statuses that they pay a penalty to the customers that suffer the consequences?

DR. RICHARDSON:  That could be one option.  I think what needs to happen is, you know, people need to sit down around a table and discuss a variety of options to see what's going to relieve the experience of energy poverty, both reliability and cost.

MR. YAUCH:  But you would admit that fixing the problems in remote areas in terms of reliability will be expensive, right?  It would require higher rates than we are currently paying.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Not necessarily.  I think we need to look at a variety of different solutions to a really challenging problem.  I have been involved in some very challenging problems in my career, and the solutions are not always the most expensive ones, especially when you bring the right people to the table.

MR. YAUCH:  And none of these -- do you have an idea of some of these solutions that -- I mean, would these be -- fall under the purview of the Board, or would these be solutions of Hydro One having to negotiate with First Nations?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Probably solutions that Hydro One could work on together with First Nations.

MR. YAUCH:  So the Board would -- all the Board could do is tell Hydro One, you've got to go consult with First Nations and see if you can fix it, because it's out of our control.


DR. RICHARDSON:  I think the evidence we are providing here is pretty clear that there is some real benefits to a robust, roll up your sleeves, sit down with each other, and understand the problem, describe the problem, and work together to find solutions.

And I provided, you know, one potential solution earlier of dealing with the duration of the outages, where it's difficult to find the fault, and you have got, you know, hundreds of individuals with ATVs and snowmobiles at the ready who could be deployed, with proper training, of course, to go out and assist in finding faults, not that they would have to repair them, and they could also identify risks on the line.  I mean, right now there's fly-overs, but if there were ranger type groups out there that could actually inspect the line and look for risks, where the line could be disrupted, you know, in weeks or months ahead, that's not a very high-cost effort, and there are people there that have the skills to do that, and these are their ideas, right, this is not my idea.  But that's just one low-cost solution that could be deployed if there was an effort to sit down and really work the problem.

MR. YAUCH:  In terms of what the Board could do, all the Board could -- can it set any sort of metric on what type of consultation you are looking for?  I mean, how would the Board deal with your idea of more consultation --


DR. RICHARDSON:  Absolutely, the Board could set some metrics.  I mean, it's not that difficult.  There are numerous organizations out there that have standards for engagement processes, for consultation processes.  Those could be applied as effectively as the measures that we are seeing here for reliability standards.

If Hydro One chooses to or if the Board chose to look at the types of metrics that are available that are both North American and international, they could easily be applied in these contexts.

MR. YAUCH:  Maybe I missed them, but were these metrics presented in your evidence of what the Board could turn to as an idea of how to essentially quantify good or pad consultation?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No, in this case I simply provided, you know, best practice guide as a way forward.  It's typically the proponents in these cases, they need to find the tools that work for them for them to engage effectively. If there are regulators that are pushing in the right direction, sometimes the regulator may choose and say, here is a benchmark approach, or here is a standard that you should apply.

My experience is that when proponents discover the tools that they need to use and their own benchmarking approaches, those tend to work really well, because they are adopting them because they want to adopt them, because they, you know, they understand the need, they understand the benefits of those approaches.

MR. YAUCH:  And my final question, at a high level you are not advocating anywhere -- I didn't see it -- any sort of cross-subsidies from ratepayers to deal with the energy poverty issues on First Nations?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Sorry, I am not sure I understood your question.

MR. YAUCH:  In your evidence you are not advocating for any sort of cross-subsidy solution to deal with the energy poverty problems on First Nations?

DR. RICHARDSON:  In the previous evidence that we provided on the natural gas rate hearing, we did recommend that the Board study the realities of energy poverty as the Board, First Nation energy poverty, and report on its findings and report, you know, try to identify some metrics and report on, hopefully, the success in reducing energy poverty with First Nations in Ontario.

I think one of the real challenges we have got is this is not understood very well.  You know, I will give you two other examples from Aroland First Nation from that power outage.

One of the individuals out there is a very spiritual gentleman, and he -- you know, this isn't in the video, but he will tell you that when his food spoiled, that was food that he harvested from the land, and he has a spiritual -- it's meat, right, fish, but he has a very spiritual connection to that food.  When that food spoiled he took it out of the freezer, and he had to get on an ATV and go out to where he harvested that food, bury that food, make an offering of tobacco to the spirits, and that's how he properly disposed of that food.

So, you know, a spiritual cost to a power outage, that's part of energy poverty, the time it takes for him to deal with that situation where he could be doing many other things to help his family, help his community, in his role as a band councillor.

The other -- another really compelling issue is, you know, we think of energy poverty.  We don't think of water quality.  When the power goes out, if the pump station goes out in the First Nation, the water treatment operator is no longer certain that the chlorine in the system is reaching the customer destinations and has to issue a preventative boil water advisory.

And this is not just for these communities, but any communities where this happens.  In the case of Aroland, in that situation late August, they had to issue a preventative boil water advisory, so for 24 hours everybody in that community has to boil water with no electricity, right?

So the problems compound, right?  That's the experience.  We have got people losing food, they have got spiritual challenges around this, time challenges.  A preventative boil water advisory that, you know, takes a wealth -- and it's not just a one-day thing.  It takes, you know, a day or two to make sure -- to verify the chlorine is reaching all the customers on the water system.


These are -- it's not just a little power outage, and they can't just go to Loblaws and buy the food.  When they talk about going to the grocery store, that's a 40-kilometre drive to the grocery store.  That's a whole day of somebody's life to replace that food, plus the cost of the food, right?

So that's energy poverty, and I think it would -- you know, to reiterate the recommendation we provided for the natural gas hearing, it would be really welcome, I think, to most First Nation and Metis communities to have the Board undertake that kind of a process to truly understand what energy poverty is, the real experience of it, not just what it costs in terms of dollars and cents, what it costs, the human cost of energy poverty, and then look to solutions.

And the solutions aren't solutions that are going to be developed here in downtown Toronto.  They are going to be solutions that are developed working with those communities, and that is what I am here to advocate on their behalf.  They want to be part of driving solutions to very real problems that affect very amazing people that don't have a lot of money and don't have a lot of connections to sit in these kind of boardrooms.

MR. YAUCH:  In terms of this evidence and this application, you are not advocating to the Board to move any -- on any sort of policy of cross-subsidies or --


DR. RICHARDSON:  No.

MR. YAUCH:  -- anything along those lines, strictly on a consultation front for this one.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Consultation that gets results.  There is a difference.

MR. YAUCH:  Those are my questions, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Yauch.

Mr. Rubenstein, I know you hadn't indicated, but nothing's surfaced that cause you to ask any questions?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Ms. Lea.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:

MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.

I just really had one matter of clarification.  Do your clients also receive service from Hydro One Distribution?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes.

MS. LEA:  Can you briefly describe, for the client groups in the areas that you had, which ones are directly connected to Transmission, if any, and which ones also receive service from Hydro One Distribution?

DR. RICHARDSON:  All of them receive service from Hydro One Distribution.  I am not aware of any that have a current direct connection to Hydro One Transmission.

MS. LEA:  So there aren't in the areas in which your clients reside First Nations distributors that -- where the electricity is taken to distribution level and distributed by a First Nations group?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Close to MoCreebec is Five Nations Energy --


MS. LEA:  Yes.

DR. RICHARDSON:  -- and the distribution entities connected to Five Nation Energy, and they are quite aware of that organization and their work, yes.

MS. LEA:  And in describing the outages, you were able to distinguish between which ones were generally related to Transmission, as opposed to Distribution?

DR. RICHARDSON:  No.

MS. LEA:  No, okay.  So your suggestion with respect to local monitoring or remedial action by Hydro One could apply equally to either system?

DR. RICHARDSON:  Well, it's very clear from the evidence that the Board has seen that in both of the lines, the A4L in particular, are among the worst transmission lines in North America.  So we would suspect that a lot of the faults that are happening have a direct relationship to that line.

I think it would also make a lot of sense for engagement with Hydro One Distribution.  You know, you heard Louie Mendowegan and Mark Bell.  They don't know who those people are, and we've encouraged them, and they have picked up the phone to try to understand their bills.

You want to hear somebody swearing on the other end of the phone when you ask them how did that go?  It's not a -- they don't have very -- they don't have very good experiences with customer relations, with the company called Hydro One.

MS. LEA:  Our call centre is familiar with some of those calls.

The reason that I just wanted to ask these questions is that in your recommendation for a best practices guide, for example, you would think that it should include Hydro One the company, not merely Hydro One Transmission.

DR. RICHARDSON:  Yes, well, both Hydro One Transmission and Hydro One Distribution.  You also have a company called Hydro One Remotes, with some people who have very good and very real experience working with remote First Nations and a lot of school of hard knocks experience, and quite frankly, in my discussions with not these clients but with remote community clients of Hydro One Networks, a lot of respect for what Hydro One Remotes is able to do.

I don't know for sure, but I don't suspect there's -- you know, it's one of these left hand/right hand things.  There may not be a lot of internal dialogue between what's happening with Hydro One Remotes and what's happening with Hydro One Distribution and Hydro One Transmission, you know, for --


MS. LEA:  You don't know what that discussion is.

DR. RICHARDSON:  I don't know, but, you know, I see evidence of good engagement with Hydro One Remotes and some creative problem-solving.  I am not seeing that with Transmission or Distribution with the communities that I am representing today.

MS. LEA:  Thank you, those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Ms. DeMarco, any redirect?

MS. DeMARCO:  I have no redirect, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you very much, Ms. DeMarco, thank you very much, Dr. Richardson, for your testimony today.
Procedural Matters:


Mr. Nettleton, perhaps we could take a few minutes to just turn our mind to the schedule for submissions, and maybe we could start off with just giving us the status on the undertakings, and we had mentioned -- we had a discussion on Wednesday as to, we could touch on that point today and get a status, and then from there perhaps we could hear your suggestions on a schedule for submissions.

MR. NETTLETON:  It's at this stage, sir, that I would like the soundtrack to Jingle Bells playing in the background, but seeing that we don't have that technology, I will move on.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I think we do, we just can't get it to work.


[Laughter]

MR. NETTLETON:  Sir, I have no update for you other than what I said to you the last time we were speaking on this topic.  My client advises that they are working towards filing all of the undertakings that were given by the 23rd of December, by next Friday, a week today.

And so we won't have a full evidentiary record.  I don't believe the evidentiary record will be able to close before then.  And so that's the only information that I can provide to you on that point.

It is the best-guess estimate right now that that's what people are working towards.  They are obviously wanting to have time for the holiday as well, and they have a very good incentive to make December 23rd work.  So best efforts are being taken to have that happen by the 23rd.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And we can always change schedules, but I think it's always best to put one in place.  So if we have a working assumption that the undertaking responses will be in by December 23rd, what would your suggestion be as far as your argument-in-chief?  And recognize that the Board is quite comfortable, obviously, going into the new year, and what would be a reasonable time line for you?

MR. NETTLETON:  I haven't got instructions from my client on specifically when, but I am just looking at my calendar now, and I suspect that we would be in a position to file -- I would hope that we would be in a position to file final argument by the 12th of January, which is a Thursday.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Lea, we had a preliminary schedule in place a couple weeks ago that I think had by in -- by all the parties.  If we took December 12th as the initial submission date and just rolled out the time lines beyond that, we can do that on the fly or perhaps communicate that to the parties subsequent as our tentative schedule on the working assumption that the undertakings would be in by December 23rd.

MS. LEA:  So I think that the original timing allowed one week between each of these -- well, no, we didn't allow one week, because Christmas was in there.  So I guess that Board Staff could look at the 19th and other parties the 26th.

Okay.  I am presently consulting with my client, and he has asked that, could we for Staff's argument go into the following week.

January 25 would be our preferred date for filing, and then I think that that takes parties into February -- on to February 1st.  So Staff January 25, parties February 1st, if that's acceptable to this Panel, because I don't know what your obligations are, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And then reply on that, Mr. Nettleton, if the intervenors are on the 1st?  You have your calendar in front of you there.  It's...

MR. NETTLETON:  I suspect that this case is going to attract significant arguments, and so I think we are not going to be able -- we will need time to review the arguments, and I suspect we won't be in a position to make reply submissions before the 15th.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Just to recap then -- and this is all on a tentative basis right now, but we'll just rely on the working assumption that we put in place as to when the undertakings would be in, so argument in-chief January the 12th, the Staff submission January 25th, all other intervenors would be February the 1st, and reply submission from Hydro One February 15th.

Okay.  Let's work on that as a tentative schedule then for submissions.  And with that we are adjourned, and happy holidays, everyone, and safe travels if you have them.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 11:02 a.m.
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